STATE OF MASHINGTON

N#935a1.1

Court of Appeals No. 46778-0-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE ESTATE OF DANA BRUCE MOWER,

Deceased.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEDGER SQUARE LAW, P.S.

By: Stuart C. Morgan, WSBA #26368

Chrystina R. Solum, WSBA #41108

Attorneys for Appellant

LEDGER SQUARE LAW, P.S.

710 Market Street

Tacoma, Washington 98402 Telephone: (253) 327-1900

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
IV.	STATEMENT OF CASE		
V.	ARGUMENT		
	A.	Standard of review.	
	B. It is an issue of substantial public interest whether a decedent's dissolution from his spouse operates to reany bequest to his ex-spouse and his ex-spouse's far		
		1. Other jurisdictions, especially other community property states, have resolved the issue in favor of revocation of the bequests to relatives of the former spouse.	
	C.	The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other Washington Cases to the extent it decides disputed factual issues on summary judgment	
	D.	The trial court abused its discretion granting attorney fees and costs to the Schulers	
	E.	The Estate requests its attorney fees and costs on appeal19	
VI.	CONCLUSION2		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Cryder v. Garrison, 387 Pa. 571 (1957)16
Estate of Marchwick, 356 Mont. 385 (2010)15
Estate of Mower, 193 Wn. App. 706, 374 P.3d 180 (2016)11
Friedman v. Hannan, 412 Md. 328, 987 A.2d 60 (2010)12, 13, 14, 15
In re Estate of Barnes, Case No. 91488-5, Slip Op. (Wash. Sup. Ct. Jan. 28. 2016)18
In re Estate of Black, 116 Wn. App. 476, 66 P.3d 670 (2003)19
In re Estate of Hermon, 39 Cal. App. 4th 1525 (1995)14, 15
In re Estate of Jones, 122 Cal. App. 4th 326 (2004)14, 15
JDFJ Corp. v. Int'l Raceway, Inc., 97 Wn. App. 1, 970 P.2d 343 (1999)20
Phillips Bldg. Co., Inc. v. An., 81 Wn. App. 696, 915 P.2d 1146 (1996)20
Pierce Cnty. v. State, 159 Wn.2d 16, 148 P.3d 1002 (2006)19
Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce Cnty., 164 Wn.2d 545, 192 P.3d 886 (2008)18
Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 934 P.2d 669 (1997)19

STATUTES

ET § 4-105(4)	13			
OTHER AUTHORITIES				
RCW 11.07.010	10			
RCW 11.12.051	10			
RCW 11.12.230	9			
RCW 11.96A.010	10			
RCW 11.96A.020	9			
RCW 11.96A.030	9			
RCW 11.96A.150	19			
Uniform Probate Code § 2-804, cmt. (2011)	12			
RULES				
CR 56(c)	18			
RAP 18.1	20			

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Linda Turner, the Personal Representative of the Estate of Dana Bruce Mower (the "Estate").

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision for which review is sought is appended to this Petition for Discretionary Review as **Appendix A** and the order decision denying reconsideration is attached as **Appendix B**.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. A bequest to an ex-spouse's family members is a bequest in favor of the ex-spouse and revoked as a matter of law upon dissolution unless there is independent evidence that the testator intended to provide for the ex-spouse's relatives in the event of dissolution. Should this Court hold that a bequest "in favor of" a former spouse's relatives is revoked as a matter of law and that Dana's bequest to his former brother-in-law and sister-in-law is revoked when (1) there is no evidence Dana intended to provide for the Schulers in the event of his dissolution from Christine, (2) Dana's bequest to the Schulers is based on his marriage to Christine, (3) the Schulers stand to inherit only because they are Christine's siblings, and (4) Dana had no relationship with the Schulers after his dissolution? **Yes.**
- 2. Attorney fees are not appropriate under TEDRA when each side prevails on a major issue and the Estate presented good faith, reasonable arguments. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in awarding attorney fees to Dana's former in-laws when they were not the substantially prevailing party? **Yes**.

3. Should this Court award Ms. Turner and the Estate their attorney fees under RAP 18.1 and RCW 11.96A.150(1)? **Yes**.

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

Dana Mower was one of six siblings.¹ Dana's siblings included four brothers, Larry Mower, Steve Mower, Greg Mower, and Scott Mower, and one sister, Linda Turner.² During his life, Dana married Christine Schuler. Christine had two brothers, Peter Schuler and Eric Schuler, and a sister-in-law, Theresa Schuler, Eric's wife.³

In 2005, shortly before Dana underwent serious heart surgery, Dana and Christine executed reciprocal wills leaving their estates to each other, or jointly to their siblings if their spouse did not survive them. In Article 1 of Dana's Last Will and Testament ("Will"), titled "IDENTIFICATION OF FAMILY," he identified his "immediate family" as his then-wife Christine Leiren Mower. Dana went on to explain that "[e]xcept as provided below, I make no provision in this Will for any of my family, whether named herein or not, nor for the descendants of any family member who does not survive me; and specifically, *I make no provision in this Will for my brother-in-law Peter Schuler*. This section does not include any non-family heirs and Dana made no provision for any non-family member. In Article 4, Dana bequeathed his personal property to his then surviving siblings.

¹ See Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 4.

² CP at 4.

³ CP at 43.

⁴ CP at 43.

⁵ CP at 2.

⁶ CP at 2 (emphasis added). Christine's Will included a similar exclusion for Peter Schuler.

⁷ CP at 4–5.

Section 5, Dana bequeathed the residue of his Estate to Christine.⁸ As an alternate disposition of his residue, Dana stated:

In the event my spouse fails to survive me by a period of thirty (30) days, I hereby give, devise, and bequeath the residue of my estate to the following individuals in the following percentages:

- a. Fifty percent (50%) of the residue of my estate to my then-surviving siblings equally (currently consisting of Larry Mower, Steve Mower, Greg Mower, Linda Turner, and Scott Mower); provided, however, in the event that all of my siblings predecease me, said residuary bequest shall be to my then-surviving nieces and nephews equally; and
- b. Fifty percent (50%) of the residue of my estate to Theresa Schuler and Eric Schuler; provided, however, in the event either predecease me, the survivor of the two shall receive this entire residuary bequest. In the event both Theresa and Eric predecease me, I hereby give, devise, and bequeath fifty percent (50%) of the residue of my estate equally to their then-surviving children.⁹

Dana never named the Schulers as pay-on-death beneficiary designees for any of Dana's non-probate assets or as secondary beneficiaries. ¹⁰ Clearly, the import of this provision was to provide for a scenario where, while married, Dana and Christine died within 30 days of one another. This is evident by the plain language of the provision.

In 2012, Christine petitioned for dissolution and a Stipulated Decree of Dissolution was entered on November 13, 2012.¹¹ Tragically, Dana

⁸ CP at 5–8.

⁹ CP at 8.

¹⁰ CP at 363.

¹¹ CP at 72.

passed away just two days after learning that his dissolution was final, on November 28, 2012, from a heart attack. CP at 72.

Dana's alternative bequest to the Schulers was based solely on his marriage to Christine, and not a personal relationship and frankly it was based on the concept that, while married, Christine did not survive more than 30 days after Dana's death. In reality, the only actual evidence before the Court was Dana did not like his in-laws. David Allan was a close friend and confidant of Dana's. 12 Mr. Allan worked with Dana since 2004 and served as the chief operating officer of Dana's company, DBM Investments, LLC, since 2007.¹³ Mr. Allan is not an heir under Dana's Will. As Mr. Allan testified, "[d]uring [his] interactions with Dana during his life, [Mr. Allan] believed and understood that Dana did not have a good relationship with Eric Schuler. [Mr. Allan] repeatedly sensed that Dana was frustrated with the negative effect Eric's behavior would have towards himself, Christine, and the Schuler family. [Mr. Allan] remember[s] many instances and conversations [he] had with Dana where Dana would express his animosity and dislike towards Eric." ¹⁴ Moreover, "Dana had no contact whatsoever with Eric Schuler or Theresa Schuler from November 13, 2012, the date Dana's divorce was finalized with Christine, to November 28, 2012, the date of Dana's death."15

¹² CP at 110.

¹³ CP at 110-11.

¹⁴ CP at 111.

¹⁵ CP at 111.

In fact, one of the sources of Dana's intense dislike of Eric Schuler stemmed from his financial exploitation of Eric and Christine's mother. In 2008, Eric was responsible for managing his mother, Dorin's, affairs. Dorin suffered from Alzheimer's and Eric was trying to decide whether or not to buy Dorin a \$1,000,000 house. Eric and Theresa had lived with Dorin rent free for many years and he was angling to keep living in a house at his mother's expense, even though Dorin suffered from Alzheimer's and had no need for a house that expensive. In 2008, Dana wrote to Charles E. Hallett, CPA, discussing the issue:

This is really a sad situation for Christine and Dorin. You can see what Chris[tine] is up against. Her brother is constantly verbally abusive to her, he is an idiot when it comes to financial matters of any kind. . . . Never mind that they have lived entirely rent and cost free in the most expensive and exclusive zip code in the U.S. for the past 30 years. That is entirely irrelevant to them. There is no question in my mind that whatever part of the estate Eric ends up with he will spend in short order because he has no money management skills. ¹⁷

Eric's abusive treatment of his own sister disgusted Dana.

Terry and Eric's strategy to get control of the estate is to keep Christine away from Dorin[,] which they are through shear intimidation and screaming at Christine. That appears to be the only thing Eric is good at. Screaming at his sister. I have seen her become physically ill after many of Eric's screaming sessions.¹⁸

Dana also expressed frustration at the Schulers' inability to put their mother's interests first:

¹⁷ CP at 258.

¹⁶ CP at 258.

¹⁸ CP at 258.

They could care less about what is good for Dorin or Christine. It just doesn't make sense for an 85 year old woman who is 75% gone to Alzheimer's to buy a house in any price range. The only reason [Eric called Mr. Hallett] is because they are doing their best to keep living rent and cost free off Dorin's and Christine's estate. . . . The bottom line is that what Eric is suggesting is categorically not in Dorin's best interest but only theirs. ¹⁹

Given Dana's well-known feelings for the Schulers after execution of the Will and his subsequent dissolution with Christine, it is clear that Dana had no actual intent or desire that the Schulers inherit from his Estate outside of their relationship to Christine and outside of the concept that Dana and Christine, while married, died within 30 days of one another. In fact, shortly after Dana's death, Christine called Mr. Allan and "expressed her discontent that Eric Schuler and Theresa would inherit anything under Dana's will because she believed such a result was directly opposite to Dana's wishes."²⁰

Following Dana's passing, the Pierce County Superior Court admitted his Will to probate and appointed his sister, Linda Turner, as Personal Representative of his Estate.²¹

On February 27, 2013, Ms. Turner filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment to Adjudicate Beneficiaries under Will, in which she argued that under RCW 11.12.051, RCW 11.07.010, Restatement (Third) of Property, and cases from jurisdictions with similar statutory law, the dissolution of Dana's marriage to Christine also operated to revoke the bequests to her

¹⁹ CP at 258.

²⁰ CP at 111–12.

²¹ CP at 24–38.

relatives as well as to Christine.²² The Schulers appeared and opposed.²³ The parties brought cross-motions for summary judgment, and the trial court granted summary judgment to the Schulers and denied Ms. Turner's cross-motion for summary judgment.²⁴ Additionally, the trial court awarded the Schulers attorney fees and costs as the prevailing party.²⁵

On May 3, 2016, in a split decision, the Division II Court of Appeals held that not all bequests to a spouse's family are automatically "in favor of or granting any interest or power" to the former spouse. Construing RCW 11.12.051, the Court reasoned that the phrase "in favor of" was ambiguous, meaning both direct bequests to a spouse and something more ambiguous, such as bequests that were a "favor" to a spouse. He legislature chose to include ["in favor of" in RCW 11.12.051], it must refer to some benefit other than a direct grant of power. The Court held that "[i]n some cases, gifts to the former spouse's family members may confer some benefit on the former spouse. Whether a particular will provision benefits the testator's former spouse would be a <u>factual question</u> for the trial court to resolve. This Court then found that the bequest to the Schulers did not confer a benefit on Christine and affirmed.

Ms. Turner moved for reconsideration, asking the Court to remand the case for fact-finding as to whether Dana's bequest to the Schulers was

²² CP at 42-51.

²³ CP at 176–184.

²⁴ CP at 329-33.

²⁵ CP at 416–18.

²⁶ **Appendix A** at 5-6.

²⁷ Appendix A at 7.

²⁸ Appendix A at 11.

²⁹ Appendix A at 11.

intended to confer a benefit, direct or indirect, on Christine.³⁰ Because of the Schulers' early summary judgment motion, no fact-finding was done to determine Dana's intent when he and Christine drafted reciprocal Wills in 2005 shortly before his heart surgery.³¹ No fact-finder has determined whether Dana and Christine intended the reciprocal Wills to confer a benefit on each other, providing for each other's siblings in the event the other did not survive. When the evidence of Dana's lack of friendship with the Schulers after drafting his Will is considered, his intent in executing the Will becomes even more important to determine. There are facts to suggest that Dana executed the bequests to the Schulers only as a favor (i.e., a benefit) to his wife and as part of an agreement to draft reciprocal Wills to provide for each other's families. In another split decision, the Court of Appeals denied reconsideration on July 27, 2016.³²

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of review.

This Court accepts review of decisions that involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court and when the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other Washington cases.³³

³⁰ Motion for Reconsideration at 7.

³¹ Motion for Reconsideration at 7.

³² Appendix B.

³³ RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4).

B. It is an issue of substantial public interest whether a decedent's dissolution from his spouse operates to revoke any bequest to his ex-spouse and his ex-spouse's family.

It is an issue of first impression in Washington whether RCW 11.12.051 operates to disinherit the relatives of a former spouse following dissolution absent an express intent otherwise. In this instance, Dana's bequest to the Schulers was based on their status at the time he made his Will as his in-laws through his marriage to Christine. Dana had no independent relationship with the Schulers, whom he actively disliked, and did not reaffirm his bequest to them after his dissolution. Moreover, if the Schulers are allowed to inherit, Christine's family will have taken 75 percent of Dana's assets and Christine stands to benefit by later inheritance through her siblings.³⁴ The Court of Appeals acknowledged that a bequest can benefit a former spouse and that whether it does so is a factual question for the trial court to resolve. However, the Court of Appeals then decided that factual issue on review of a summary judgment order.

Washington courts have authority to determine the construction and interpretation of wills.³⁵ Courts "shall have full and ample power and authority under this title to administer and settle . . . [a]ll matters concerning the estates and assets of incapacitated, missing, and deceased persons, including matters involving nonprobate assets and powers of attorney . . ."³⁶

³⁴ As part of the dissolution, Christine received 50 percent of Dana's assets, and if the Schulers are allowed to inherit, they will receive 50 percent of what remains.

³⁵ RCW 11.96A.020; RCW 11.96A.030; RCW 11.12.230.

³⁶ RCW 11.96A.020; *see also* RCW 11.12.230 ("All courts and others concerned in the execution of last wills shall have due regard to the direction of the will, and the true intent and meaning of the testator, in all matters brought before them").

Under RCW 11.12.051, the dissolution, invalidation, or termination of a marriage revokes all provisions in a testator's will in favor of the former spouse. Specifically, RCW 11.12.050 states that

If, after making a will, the testator's marriage or domestic partnership is dissolved, invalidated, or terminated, all provisions in the will in favor of or granting any interest or power to the testator's former spouse or former domestic partner are revoked, unless the will expressly provides otherwise. Provisions affected by this section must be interpreted, and property affected passes, as if the former spouse or former domestic partner failed to survive the testator, having died at the time of entry of the decree of dissolution or declaration of invalidity. Provisions revoked by this section are revived by the testator's remarriage to the former spouse or reregistration of the domestic partnership with the former domestic partner. Revocation of certain nonprobate transfers is provided under RCW 11.07.010.³⁷

Similarly, an ex-spouse is treated as having predeceased the decedent as to any nonprobate assets.³⁸

It is an issue of first impression whether a bequest to an ex-spouse's family is a bequest in favor of an ex-spouse as a matter of law. It is a matter of public interest whether the dissolution statute operates as a matter of law or whether it is dependent on the facts of each case. If each case must be analyzed by a fact-finder, the result is contrary to TEDRA's purpose of encouraging resolution of matters under Title 11 by non-judicial means.³⁹ Revocation of a testator's bequest in favor of a former spouse, including the spouse's in-laws, should occur as a matter of law.

³⁷ RCW 11.12.051.

³⁸ RCW 11.07.010.

³⁹ RCW 11.96A.010.

RCW 11.12.051 provides certainty in the probate of estates and ensures that a testator's intent is honored even if the testator passed away without being able to make a change to his or her will. This prevents the unfortunate result of a testator accidentally being tied to estate planning that occurred during a marriage that has ended.

The Schulers had argued that a dissolution had no effect on a testator's bequest to a spouse's relatives, only the spouse. The Court of Appeals disagreed, and recognized that "in favor of" included "all will provisions that benefit a former spouse without directly conveying any power or property interest, as long as those provisions would be effectively revoked by treating the former spouse as predeceasing the testator." That is, the Court held that direct and indirect benefits to a former spouse are revoked by dissolution depending on the facts of a case, not as an operation of law.

Leaving the operation of RCW 11.12.051 to a factual determination undermines the certainty that RCW 11.12.050 is intended to convey in estate planning, which will cause confusion and extra cost in the estate administration, contrary to TEDRA.

Disinheriting former in-laws as a matter of law because the bequest was "in favor" of a former spouse is logical because during the "divorce process or in the aftermath of the divorce, the former spouse's relatives are likely to side with the former spouse, breaking down or weakening any former ties that may previously have developed between the transferor and

⁴⁰ Estate of Mower, 193 Wn. App. 706, 716, 374 P.3d 180 (2016).

the former spouse's relatives, seldom would the transferor have favored such a result."⁴¹

As a result, many jurisdictions apply their respective revocation by dissolution statutes to bequests to former relatives absent a showing to the contrary. The application operates as a burden-shifting law, requiring those persons affected by the revocation to demonstrate some evidence that would militate against it, such as a continued relationship with the former spouse's relatives after dissolution or a will executed after dissolution.⁴²

In this instance, the inequity of not disinheriting the Schulers as a matter of law is clear. Dana made his Will while married to Christine and just before a major heart surgery. Christine executed a reciprocal Will in which they both left their assets to their siblings. Dana made no bequest for non-relatives, and specifically excluded his "brother in law," Peter Schuler. Dana passed away over the Thanksgiving holiday just two weeks after finding out that his dissolution with Christine had been finalized. Dana has a well-documented history expressing his dislike and distrust of his in-laws. After his dissolution, Dana did not maintain a relationship with the Schulers. In fact, Dana's close friend and employee, David Allan, expressly recalls Dana making statements expressing animosity and dislike towards the Schulers.⁴³ Christine called David Allan shortly after Dana's death and

⁴¹ UPC § 2-804, cmt. (2011).

43 CP at 111.

⁴² See Friedman v. Hannan, 412 Md. 328, 345, 987 A.2d 60 (2010).

stated that Dana did not want the Schulers to inherit anything under his Will.⁴⁴

There is evidence that the Will was created as a favor to Christine and in exchange for her reciprocal Will to leave her assets to the couple's siblings. The revocation of this bequest should operate as a matter of law, not an issue of fact. The Court of Appeal's decision impacts public interest by encouraging litigation over estate issues rather than simple resolution of disputes. This Court should hold that bequests to former in-laws are "in favor of" a spouse and apply RCW 11.12.051 to revoke bequests to former in-laws upon dissolution.

1. Other jurisdictions, especially other community property states, have resolved the issue in favor of revocation of the bequests to relatives of the former spouse.

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