SEP 2 6 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

No. 93521-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### LINDA TURNER,

## Appellant,

v.

# ERIC SCHULER and TERESA SCHULER, husband and wife,

# Respondents

## ANSWER TO PETITION

1501 Dock Street Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 627-1091

;

2

### SMITH ALLING, P.S.

C. Tyler Shillito Matthew C. Niemela Attorneys for Respondent



#

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

In addressing the scope of RCW 11.12.051(1), the Court of Appeals did not hold RCW 11.12.051's application hinges upon factual inquiry. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals' decision and resulting analysis merely considers the language of the applicable Will. Because Linda's Petition wholly rests on the erroneous assertion the Court of Appeals found, and resolved issues of fact, her Petition fails.

1. <u>The analysis set forth by the Court of Appeals only</u> considers whether the gift to the third party requires the former spouse predecease the Decedent, and does not require inquiry into otherwise factual matters.

Linda asserts a matter of public interests arises based on "whether the dissolution statute operates as a matter of law or whether it is dependent on the facts of each case." Petition at 10. Linda fundamentally misunderstands the Court of Appeals' holding. The Court of Appeals rejected the fact-finding approach advanced by Linda's out of state authority and now argued in her Petition.

The Court of Appeals enunciated a two-part test to determine if revocation occurs:

- 1. Does the Will contain a testamentary gift that otherwise benefits the former spouse?
- 2. If yes, must the former spouse be alive in order for the beneficiary to take under the Will?

Slip Op. at 12; 15.

: :

If the answer to both inquiries is "yes" revocation occurs under the Court of Appeals' interpretation. The Court of Appeals' analysis need not, and did not, concern itself with Linda's attempt to manufacture issues of fact on appeal. The inquiry, instead, focuses solely on the language and construction of the relevant will, a question decided alone by the trial court. RCW 11.96A.020; RCW 11.96A.030(2), (5); RCW 11.12.230.

. .

The language of Dana's Will clearly reflects that Christine need not survive in order for the Schulers to receive the bequest. The Will clearly states, "*In the event my spouse fails to survive me* by a period of thirty (30) days" the Schulers shall receive half of the Estate residue. CP 7 (emphasis added). Illustrated by the Court of Appeals, because the Will expressly stated the Schulers received the residual bequest if Christine predeceased Dana, RCW 11.12.051 did not terminate the bequest to the Schulers.

In fact, the Court of Appeals' analysis directly avoids the application of Linda's allegations that Dana and the Schulers did not enjoy a close relationship. Slip Op. at 15. Because the Court of Appeals' analysis requires interpretation of the language of a Will, and not factual inquiries, Linda's argument, and basis for the Petition, fails.

> 2. <u>The language seized upon in Linda's Petition is dicta</u>, which the Court of Appeals expressly rejected noting RCW 11.12.051 does not require a fact-finding expedition.

Critical reading of the opinion further reflects the Court of Appeals averred the factual approach used in other jurisdictions.

Below, and in her Petition, Linda relies on Friedman v. Hannan, 412 Md. 328, 987 A.2d 60 (2010) in support of her argument that RCW 11.12.051 revokes gifts to in-laws generally. The *Friedman* Court interpreted a statute substantially different from RCW 11.12.051, which reads:

.

A will, or any part of it, may not be revoked in a manner other than as provided in this section.

. . . .

By an absolute divorce of a testator and his spouse or the annulment of the marriage, either of which occurs subsequent to the execution of the testator's will; and all provisions in the will <u>relating to</u> the spouse, and only those provisions, shall be revoked unless otherwise provided in the will or decree.

Md. Code Ann., Est. & Trusts § 4-105(4) (emphasis added); *Friedman*, 987 A.2d at 65. *Compare* RCW 11.12.051 (revoking, more narrowly, "all provisions in the will <u>in favor of</u>... the testator's former spouse") (emphasis added). Relying on the Maryland statute, the *Friedman* Court explained, "[W]hether a particular provision is one 'relating to' a former spouse is a factual one to be made by the trial court." *Friedman*, 987 A.2d at 72.

The Court of Appeals below, citing *Friedman*, *supra*, wrote, "Whether a particular will provision benefits the testator's former spouse <u>would be</u> a factual question for the trial court to resolve."<sup>1</sup> Slip Op. at 12 (emphasis added).

•

.

Linda's Petition and analysis erroneously seizes upon this single sentence within the twenty-one page opinion.

The Court of Appeals immediately following paragraph distinguished and disavowed the *Friedman* analysis. The Court of Appeals below recognized, unlike Maryland's statute, RCW 11.12.051 contains "a particular manner of revocation." Slip Op. at 12. RCW 11.12.051 requires a court construe a will as though the former spouse predeceased the decedent:

Provisions affected by this section must be interpreted, and property affected passes, <u>as if the former spouse or former</u> <u>domestic partner failed to survive the testator</u>, having died at the time of entry of the decree of dissolution or declaration of invalidity.

RCW 11.12.051 (emphasis added). Maryland's statute substantially differs from RCW 11.12.051 and does not include a manner of revocation or interpretation, to which Washington courts must give effect. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision below avoids the *Freidman*, *supra*, factual analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals did not say the inquiry "is" a factual determination for the trial court.

To this end, the Court of Appeals clearly stated the applicable rule

under RCW 11.12.051 immediately after distinguishing Friedman, supra:

A will provision 'in favor of' a former spouse must be one that would be effectively revoked by treating that former spouse as predeceasing the testator.

Slip Op. at 12.

:

Therefore, the only inquiry concerns whether the relevant will provision to a third party lapses if the court treats the former spouse as predeceased. Linda's Petition misconstrues and seizes upon dicta used to distinguish RCW 11.12.051 from substantially different statutes.

# 3. <u>In applying the enunciated rule, the Court of Appeals did</u> not address any factual issue.

The Court of Appeals neither decided any issue of fact nor weighed evidence on appeal. The Court of Appeals avoided Linda's various allegations, stating:

Turner argues that because Dana's property would go to Christine's family, she would ultimately benefit from the bequest. Turner also appears to argue that because Dana had no relationship with the Schulers that would warrant their inclusion in his will, he must have included them to benefit Christine. *However, even if Dana's bequest to the Schulers indirectly benefits Christine, it would not be effectively revoked by applying the fiction of law that she predeceased Dana. Therefore, the alternative will provision bequeathing half of the residue of Dana's estate to the Schulers was not a provision in favor of Christine within the meaning of RCW 11.12.051.* 

Slip Op. at 15 (emphasis added).

Thus, the Court of Appeals neither created nor answered any question of fact on appeal. Accordingly, Linda's Petition does not "involve an issue of substantial public interest" as alleged by Linda.

:

÷

# C. <u>The Court of Appeals' decision comports with well-</u> settled Washington probate law.

Importantly, Linda's argument assails well-settled presumptions concerning Washington probate law. As a matter of law, "[t]he testator is presumed to have known the law at the time of execution of his will." *Matter of Estate of Mell*, 105 Wn.2d 518, 524, 716 P.2d 836 (1986); *see also Matter of Estate of Niehenke*, 117 Wn.2d 631, 640, 818 P.2d 1324 (1991) ("[A] testator is presumed to be aware of the anti-lapse statute at the time the will is executed.") "Although a will speaks as of the date of the testator's death, the testator's intentions, as viewed through the surrounding circumstances and language, are determined as of the time of the execution of the will." *Matter of Estate of Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d 431, 436, 693 P.2d 703 (1985). The testator's intent must, if possible, be derived from the four corners of the will and the will must be considered in its entirety. *In re Estate of Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d 431, 435, 693 P.2d 703 (1985); *In re Estate of Douglas*, 65 Wn.2d 495, 499, 398 P.2d 7 (1965).

The record reflects Dana executed his Will in May 2005. CP 21.

Former RCW 11.12.051 (2005) at the time Dana executed his Will mirrors the operation and language of the now-current RCW 11.12.051:

:

If, after making a will, the testator's marriage is dissolved or invalidated, all provisions in the will in favor of or granting any interest or power to the testator's former spouse are revoked, unless the will expressly provides otherwise. Provisions affected by this section must be interpreted, and property affected passes, as if the former spouse failed to survive the testator, having died at the time of entry of the decree of dissolution or declaration of invalidity.

Laws of 1994, ch. 221, § 11. Yet, despite former RCW 11.12.051 (2005),

Dana's Will specifically names "Theresa Schuler and Eric Schuler" as beneficiaries "[i]n the event [Christine] fails to survive me." CP 8. Notably, the bequest does not describe the Schulers by any familial designation such as "in-laws" or make any reference the gift is made as a result of marriage or relation.<sup>2</sup> CP 8. Thus, Linda's argument requires a court rewrite the express language of the specific bequest based wholly on extrinsic evidence. Additionally, Linda's argument runs afoul of the long-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Importantly, the law relied upon by Linda is easily distinguishable. Here, the Will makes a specific bequest to, and identifies by name alone, "Theresa Schuler and Eric Schuler." CP 8. In contrast, the opinions cited by Linda involved gifts to individuals identified by familial relation. *Friedman*, 987 A.2d at 62-63 (leaving gift to "those surviving immediate family members of my Wife") (alterations omitted); *Estate of Hermon*, 39 Cal. App. 4th 1525, 1528, 46 Cal. Rptr. 2d 577 (1995) (dispositive provision of will devising gift to "my children and my spouse's children"); *In re Estate of Jones*, 122 Cal. App. 4th

standing presumption that Dana knew if he and Christine divorced, a court would interpret his will "as if [Christine] failed to survive [him]." Former RCW 11.12.051 (2005).

:

1

# D. <u>The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with</u> other appellate decisions because the Court of Appeals did not resolve factual issues on appeal.

Linda's Petition erroneously alleges the Decision conflicts with other decisions by the Court of Appeals. Specifically, the Petition alleges the Court of Appeals' decision decided an issue of fact on appeal from summary judgment. Petition at 17-18.

Stated herein, the Court of Appeals avoided factual inquiries. The Court of Appeals interpreted the language of the Will and did not address, much less "weigh" the evidence on appeal. *See, e.g.*, Slip Op. at 15. Because the Court of Appeals did not decide any factual issue on appeal, the decision does not fall under the auspices of RAP 13.4 as alleged in the Petition.

### E. <u>Linda fails to demonstrate a basis for review of the trial</u> <u>court's and Court of Appeals' award of attorneys' fees</u> <u>and expenses to the Schulers.</u>

Linda's Petition requests fees and costs associated with bringing this litigation and appeal.

<sup>326, 329, 18</sup> Cal. Rptr. 3d 637, 638 (2004) (devising gift to "my stepdaughters Paula Labo and Kathy Hardie") (alterations removed).

As an initial matter, Linda does not identify the basis for which this Court should review the issue of fees and costs under RAP 13.4(b). To the extent Linda blindly designates the issue of fees and costs without designating a basis for review, this Court should decline review.

:

Nevertheless, the trial court and, subsequently, the Court of Appeals did not err in awarding fees to the Schulers. The Schulers prevailed first on summary judgment and again on appeal.

RCW 11.96.150(1), affords discretion to courts in awarding fees to TEDRA litigants:

Either <u>the superior court or any court on an appeal may, in</u> <u>its discretion, order costs, including reasonable attorneys'</u> <u>fees, to be awarded to any party</u>: (a) From any party to the proceedings; (b) from the assets of the estate or trust involved in the proceedings; or (c) from any nonprobate asset that is the subject of the proceedings. <u>The court may</u> <u>order the costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be</u> <u>paid in such amount and in such manner as the court</u> <u>determines to be equitable</u>. In exercising its discretion under this section, the court may consider any and all factors that it deems to be relevant and appropriate, which factors may but need not include whether the litigation benefits the estate or trust involved.

(Emphasis added). RCW 11.96.150(1) does not predicate an award of fees upon success on the merits. Instead, RCW 11.96.150(1) allows Washington courts to award fees based on equitable considerations.

An appellate court "will not interfere with a trial court's fee determination [under RCW 11.96.150] unless there are facts and circumstances clearly showing an abuse of the trial court's discretion." In re Estate of Black, 153 Wn.2d 152, 173, 102 P.3d 796 (2004) (quotes omitted).

.

Linda argues "[t]he Schulers are not the substantially prevailing party." Petition at 18. However, under the plain language of RCW 11.96.150, the Schulers need not be the substantially prevailing party to recover fees and costs. To the extent Linda argues the Schulers must substantially prevail, her argument fails.

Moreover, the multiplicity of factors here favors an award of fees and costs to the Schulers. First, the Schulers prevailed on their motion for summary judgment adjudicating them heirs under the Will, thereby taking half of the net Estate residue. *Compare In re Estate of Ehlers*, 80 Wn. App. 751, 764, 911 P.2d 1017 (1996) ("Where the beneficiaries are unsuccessful in their litigation and primarily pursue their action for their own benefit, the court does not abuse its discretion in denying them attorney fees.").

Second, the Schulers successfully defended the cross motion for summary judgment filed by Linda as Personal Representative. CP 237-44.

Third, the Schulers' action benefits the Estate. As noted by Linda in her Petition, an "action benefits Dana's Estate [which] correctly identif[ies] his heirs and give[s] effect to his true intent." Petition at 20. Because of the Schulers' action, the trial court adjudicated the proper heirs under the Will, which, according to Linda, the Personal Representative, benefits the Estate.

:

1

Fourth, the trial court granted the Schulers' motion concerning the disposition of non-probate assets pursuant to RCW 11.07.010. CP 416-18. Thus, even if the trial court applied the substantially prevailing party standard, the Schulers prevailed on substantially all, if not all, claims set forth in the Estate and Linda's TEDRA Petitions.

### F. <u>The Schulers request fees and costs in responding to</u> <u>Linda's Petition.</u>

The Schulers request fees and costs here. Noted above, RCW 11.96.150 expressly authorizes trial courts and appellate courts to award fees and costs as a matter of equity. The Schulers received fees and costs below. RAP 18.1(j) expressly allows an award of attorneys' fees and expenses to the prevailing party in the Court of Appeals where the Petition for Review is denied. This Court should award fees and costs to the Schulers.

The Schulers defended themselves in this matter in the trial court, the Court of Appeals, and now this Supreme Court. The law designates the Schulers as heirs under the Will. The Schulers should not bear the cost of forcing the Personal Representative to faithfully execute the language of the Will under Washington law.

### IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, this Court should decline to accept review outlined in Linda's Petition. This Court should further award fees and expenses to the Schulers for submitting this Answer.